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Situated in the northeastern New Mexico village of Ocaté at the inter-
section of State Highways 21 and 120, the J. P. Strong Store is a long,
narrow adobe structure with a false front. Overshadowed by the rocky
slopes of Gallinas Mesa, the village consists of a scattering of buildings
strung along the south bank of Ocaté Creek for a mile or more. One of a
number of small ranching communities which characterize the settlement of
Mora County, Ocaté is surrounded by well-grassed pasture lands supporting
large numbers of livestock which form the basis of the area's economy.
When the store was built, ¢.1906, Ocaté supported three other mercantile
establishments and several additional businesses but recent improvements
in highways and transportation facilities have led to a .gradual decline in
the importance of such small rural communities. In 1974 the Strong Store
was closed but it remains in good condition, almost unchanged from the
time when it was a hub of neighborhood activity. - T

"Resting on a sandstone foundation, the building'is constructed of dark—
red, unplastered adobe bricks topped by a corrugated metal pitched roof.

A simple frame porch shades the facade,which is made of plate glass display
windows enclosed by paneled woodwork painted a faded orange and green.
Trimmed by a decorative cornice, a pressed metal false front simulating
stone rises above the porch,which is further embellished by a small sign
with "J. P. Strong" spelled out in block letters. Double doors made of
glass over wood form the entrance, which is somewhat recessed. Horizontal
iron rods protect the lower portion of the doors and adjoining show
windows. For security reasons fenestration in the side walls is limited tc
two small windows just under the eaves on each side. To facilitate the
handling of bulky merchandlse a large doorway was 1nstalled 1n the middle
of the west wall.

Although presently unoccupied, the building's flxtures remain in place.
Shelves and display cases extend along each side of the store's main room
which was heated by a large coal-burning stove at its center. Along the
west wall towards the rear is a counter with stools whié¢h still has the
store's cash register and brackets to hold wrapping paper and twine. Two
rows of modern flourescent light fixtures are suspended from a recently
installed false ceiling. The only decoration is a large 48 star American
flag on the east wall near the front. The rear of the building contains a
small room used as an office or for storage.
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\ Erected c.1906 by French 1mmlgrant Nathan Well,the J. P. Strong Store is
an excellent example of a southwestern qeneral store. At the time of its
constructlon the crossroads merchant in New Mex1co s ranch cOuntry was not
only the purveyor of a wide. varlety ‘of goods but’ also was often an important
purchaser of the area's produce cattle,,sheep, wool, hides and grain. In
addition he usually served as.the v1llage postmaster and notary public and
the store itself served as the region's political and social center. Since
its establishment at the turn of the century the Strong Store served these
functions under three different owners for the next 70 years.

Born in Paris March 7, 1867, Nathan Weil was the son of a wine merchant
from Alsace-Lorraine. At the age of twelve the younger Weil immigrated to
the United States. After a brief stay in New York City, he made his way to
Salina, Kansas where he was employed by an uncle in the wool and hide trade.
Continuing westward, Weil worked as a clerk and ranch hand in Colorado's
Arkansas Valley first at Las Animas and then at Pueblo where he married
Clara Goldsmith Bowman, a young widow from Denver. Within a few years the
family moved to Ocaté where Weil established a mercantile and ranching
business in partnership with his wife's cousin Sam Goldsmith. In 1907
Goldsmith sold his interest to his partner soon after the construction of a
new store building, the subject of this nomination. ,

From a modest beginning Weil's business interests grew and prospered
during the next decades. In addition to the store, he ran large numbers of
livestock on the fertile pastures of Mora County and became a leading trader
in cattle, sheep and wool. Diversifying further, he was also an organizer
and director of local banks in the nearby towns of Las Vegas, Springer and
Wagon Mound. 1In 1938, after 40 years of merchandising at Ocaté, Weil closed
the store during the depths of the Depression to devote his remaining years
to his ranching interests. The store building remained unused until a few
years after World War II when it was purchased by a former commercial rival,
John P. Strong, as a replacement for another store which had recently burned

- A descendant of one of the first Anglo families to settle at Ocatég,
Strong was a grandson of Richard P. Strong who left County Wicklow, Ireland
at nineteen seeking new opportunity in this country. 1In 1851, soon after
his arrival at New York, Strong enlisted in the U.S. Army, serving with
various cavalry regiments in Texas and New Mexico for the next 10 years
until he was discharged at Fort Union, 20 miles south of present day Ocaté.
At the conclusion of his military service he settled near the fort and
entered the livestock and freighting business. Several years prior to his

(See Continuation Sheet Page 1)
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discharge Strong had married Fanny Ryan at Taos in 1857 and the two became
the progenitors of a large family which still has many descendants both in
Mora County and other locations in eastern New Mexico and the Oklahoma
panhandle.

Although the Strongs had previously operated other mercantile enter-
prises at various locations in Mora County, the business known as the J. P.
Strong Store originated in 1913. In that year John R. Strong, Richard's
youngest son, bought the Ocaté branch store from Vorenburg & Co., his
former employers, who maintained their headquarters at the railroad town of
Wagon Mound 20 miles east. Direction of this business was later carried
on by two of his sons, John P. and Charles Strong, until 1960 when it was
sold to Donaciano Mondragon, a long time employee who continued its
operation for another 14 years and still owns the store building.
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